Mechanisms of social cohesion

Inaugural-Dissertation

zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades einer Doktorin oder eines Doktors der Wirtschafts- und Sozialwissenschaften der Wirtschafts- und Sozialwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Christian-Albrechts-Universität zu Kiel

vorgelegt von
Julia Kleinewiese, M.A.
aus Hamburg

Kiel, 2019

Erstbegutachtung: Prof. Dr. Peter Graeff

Zweitbegutachtung: Prof. Dr. Andreas Lutter

Drittbegutachtung: Prof. Dr. Udo Kelle

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 22. Juli 2020

Contents

1 Introduction	3
1.1 The dissertation's general topic and its relevance	3
1.2 Introduction of the papers	5
1.2.1 First paper: "Esprit de corps as a source of deviant behavior in organizations. Applying an old cor	
1.2.2 Second paper: "Situational Action Theory and the particular case of settings including a group"	
1.2.3 Third paper: "Ethical decisions between the conflicting priorities of legality and group loyalty:	
Scrutinizing the 'code of silence' among volunteer firefighters with a vignette-based factorial survey" .	8
1.3 Relationship of the papers	10
1.4 How the dissertation fills previous gaps in research	10
References	12
First paper:	
Esprit de corps as a source of deviant behavior in organizations. Applying an old c	on-
cept with a new livery	. 19
Second paper:	
Situational Action Theory and the particular case of settings including a group	. 20
Third paper:	
Ethical decisions between the conflicting priorities of legality and group loya	ılty:
Scrutinizing the "code of silence" among volunteer firefighters with a vignette-ba	-
factorial survey	
Erklärung zu der Ko-Autorenschaft und den DFG-Richtlinien	. 52
Eidesstattliche Erklärung: Erklärung zum selbständigen Verfassen der Arbeit	. 53

1 Introduction

1.1 The dissertation's general topic and its relevance

Many organizations rely on team building with the presumption that this will lead to positive effects only, such as an increase in work productivity (Agarwal and Adjirackor 2016) and job satisfaction (Hashemi and Sadeqi 2016). Scandals in economic and welfare organizations as well as involving public authorities indicate otherwise – to mention just a few: "Dieselgate", "Caritas" and the "Petrobras scandal". These are cases of corporately committed deviance. They show that social cohesion and particularistic loyalty norms can contribute towards preventing confidants within the organization and the (work) group from externally reporting the wrongdoing. When this is prevalent in a group (or even an entire organization), it leads to a prevailing "code of silence" (cf. Hagedorn et al. 2013; Ivković and Sauerman 2013), pertaining unethical actions of fellow group members or the overall group. As illustrated by the recent scandals, it is clearly important to further explore the "dark side of groups" (Stein and Pinto 2011) – in regard to the causes, processes and outcomes.

This cumulative dissertation sheds light on group factors and processes that lead to deviant outcomes. Much of previous research on groups has focused on the positive outcomes of group factors. A prominent example for this focus of attention is research on different forms of social group cohesion: Most literature on social cohesion in groups focusses on its positive effects (e.g. Boxx, Odom, and Dunn 1991; Grant 2007; Johnson and Johnson 1991) and only a limited number of theoretical approaches and empirical studies have examined possible negative consequences (but see e.g. Boyt, Lusch, and Mejza 2005; Martins et al. 2017; Urien, Osca, and García-Salmones 2017). This dissertation follows the latter approach, assuming that group factors (e.g. norms, social cohesion and loyalty) can also lead to negative outcomes i.e. actions that are deviant from general rules and norms. The current perspective builds on research showing that group factors (such as esprit de corps and group norms) are particularistic in that they relate to the group and its members only (ingroup) (Blau, Ruan, and Ardelt 1991; Parsons 1951). A strong emphasis on group norms and goals, for instance through a high esprit de corps, can cause conflicts with general norms and rules (cf. Pfarrer et al. 2008; Portes and Vickstrom 2011). For example, situations may arise in which an individual commits an act deviating from the law (crime) but acts conformal in regard to group norms (cf. Dungan, Waytz, and Young 2015; Waytz, Dungan, and Young 2013). Furthermore, for the individual, situations of ambivalence may arise when general social factors stand in opposition to the group factors (e.g. Dungan, Waytz, and Young 2014; Weisburd et al. 2000). This ambivalence is especially relevant pertaining the particularistic group norms and universalistic rules and norms (e.g. laws) (Graeff 2012). Such propositions are relevant in regard to assessing the causes and processes leading towards deviance as various circumstances involve groups.

Embedding the topic into the field of research more generally requires briefly presenting some closely related topics. Similar to esprit de corps, some literature addresses concepts such as "in- and out-group", commitment, group loyalty and (group-)identity (Hogg, Abrams, and Brewer 2017; Misch, Over, and Carpenter 2016) in which group norms are also of relevance (e.g. Anderson 1999; Falomir-Pichastor, Gabarrot, and Mugny 2009; Mackie 1986; Masson, Jugert, and Fritsche 2016; Sansfaçon and Amiot 2014; Tittle and Paternoster 2000). These closely related concepts refer to a group level as well as a person level. In early sociological research, social cohesion in groups (e.g. a team spirit) is already viewed in connection with social categorization as well as its protective function – for the group members (Faris 1932; Merton 1940). Furthermore, its integrative function is explicitly connected with the particularistic character of team spirit (Blau, Ruan, and Ardelt 1991; Parsons 1951) because it focuses exclusively on the group's members. Related to the aforementioned, in the field of psychological research the terms "team norms" (e.g. Staffieri 2016; Taggar and Ellis 2007) and, even more prevalently, "group norms" are applied, for example in regard to "in- and out-group" norms (e.g. Jetten, Spears, and Manstead 1996; Marques et al. 1998; McGuire, Manstead, and Rutland 2017; Wilder and Shapiro 1984), the opposing effects of particularistic group norms to general norms (McGuire, Rutland, and Nesdale 2015) and the positive effect of threatening situations on the conformity to group norms (Barth et al. 2018; Stollberg, Fritsche, and Jonas 2017).

One focus in this dissertation is placed on social cohesion in groups, such as "esprit de corps" (which is often used interchangeably with "team spirit" [e.g. by Agarwal and Adjirackor 2016; Lee et al. 2018; Manzoor et al. 2011; Ratzmann et al. 2018]). Previous literature on social cohesion in groups has applied differing concepts and each concept has also been utilized from varying perspectives (both theoretically and empirically) (see e.g. Boyt, Lusch, and Mejza 2005). To date, they are rather unclear in their conceptualization. Based on this substantial deficit, the first paper of this dissertation aims at improving the theoretical basis of esprit de corps as well as its influences on action (in regard to deviance). The second paper provides a

theoretical foundation for examining group influences (e.g. moral norms and deterrence) in the causation of crime. Both of these papers provide a foundation for future empirical studies. The third paper delivers empirical results by means of a vignette-based factorial survey experiment pertaining situations of conflict between group standards (e.g. loyalty) and general legal standards (e.g. laws). The main section of this dissertation consists of these three papers, offering insights into both theory and empirics as well as their interconnection.

In a metatheoretical sense, this dissertation utilizes the theoretical aims to put forward middle range theories (see Hedström 2008; Hedström and Ylikoski 2014). The main focus lies on causal processes of entities in generating social effects (e.g. Graeff 2016). The processes must have a regular structure (Maurer 2010). The explanation of social effects is commonly a hierarchical procedure – a combination of micro-level processes with features of macro-level conditions (Graeff 2016; Hedström and Bearman 2009). While processes are measured in the context of specific situations, they are general within the meaning of middle range theories (Hedström 2008).

The remainder of this introduction begins with a brief overview of the three papers. For each, a brief summary of the content is given, followed by information on the contribution of each co-author (when applicable). Subsequently, it is addressed in more detail how the papers are related in regard to their content. In a final step, the relevant research gaps that the papers aim to contribute towards closing are described and discussed, demonstrating the added value that this dissertation contributes to the research fields.

1.2 Introduction of the papers

1.2.1 First paper: "Esprit de corps as a source of deviant behavior in organizations. Applying an old concept with a new livery"

The first paper of my dissertation focusses on theory pertaining esprit de corps of groups in organizations, with the aim of explaining deviant actions in connection with social processes affected by esprit de corps. It puts forward that strong social cohesion (e.g. esprit de corps) between members of a group may heighten group norms. The approach towards this topic is from the perspective that single individuals (or groups of individuals) commit acts of deviance, therefore, exploring the validity of a standpoint scrutinizing dynamics of individuals that could

deviate. This angle focusses on the components and social processes (that come about regularly) which may influence the likelihood of deviant actions. The paper presents an overview of the previous theoretical and empirical literature on (and related to) esprit de corps, as a form of group cohesiveness. While previous literature has predominantly examined the positive effects of social cohesion (e.g. esprit de corps) in groups (e.g. Boxx, Odom, and Dunn 1991; Grant 2007), this contribution aims at a more balanced approach by considering both possible positive and negative consequences. It especially takes possible negative effects of esprit de corps into account, such as individuals remaining silent on wrongdoings of fellow group members i.e. a "code of silence" (cf. Ivković, Haberfeld, and Peacock 2016). Therefore, it considers esprit de corps as a possible antecedent of deviant behavior (such as corruption) in organizations. Additionally, the ambivalence that may arise for individuals when they would prefer to adhere to both (particularistic) group norms and (universalistic) general norms (Lüscher 2013; Merton and Barber 1963) is addressed in the framework of esprit de corps. This paper also draws some preliminary (theoretical) conclusions pertaining the implications that such aspects might have for deviance in organizations. Importantly, based on such a theoretical framework, we propose empirical studying of the causes and (social) mechanisms related to group factors (such as esprit de corps, external threats and group norms) on individuals' likelihood of committing acts of crime, for example by means of factorial surveys (see e.g. Auspurg and Hinz [2015] for the method and Dickel and Graeff [2016] for a specific application).

This first paper is currently being published as a contribution in the book "Bribery, Fraud, Manipulation: How to Explain and to Avoid Organizational Wrongdoing?" (edited by Pohlmann, Dannecker, Dölling, and Hermann 2019). This paper was a joint contribution together with Professor Dr. Peter Graeff. We devised the topic and structure together. In the first draft, each co-author contributed two chapters: Professor Dr. Graeff wrote the introduction and conclusion, whereas I contributed the second and third chapters. The redrafts of the overall paper were conducted in consultation by both co-authors. Therefore, each of us contributed equally towards the final version. This paper is a theoretical follow-up of the presentation "Esprit de corps as a mechanism of social integration" at the symposium "Bribery, Fraud, Cheating: How to Explain and to Avoid Organizational Wrongdoing" (5.-7. October 2017, Schloss Herrenhausen, Hannover).

1.2.2 Second paper: "Situational Action Theory and the particular case of settings including a group"

The second (theory) paper applies Situational Action Theory (SAT) to situations in which a group is of relevance. The question that guides the application is if Situational Action Theory is suitable for explaining group factors in the causation of crime. Wikström's Situational Action Theory is a general theory that aims to explain all acts of deviance (for an overview see e.g. Wikström 2004, 2006, 2014, 2019). This approach is also actor-based i.e. it assumes that individuals commit acts of deviance. It is embedded into the aforementioned metatheoretical context because it places a strong focus on the processes leading from the former to the latter (see for example Wikström 2006; Wikström et al. 2010; Wikström, Mann, and Hardie 2018; Wikström and Treiber 2007). SAT postulates that all acts of crime are situational - meaning that they would be the result of an interaction between features of the person and of the setting (Wikström and Treiber 2016, 2017). Moreover, a strong emphasis is placed on the moral elements of the person (personal morality) and of the setting (moral norms) (Wikström 2004, 2006, 2014). This paper presents an overview of SAT and then, as a first step towards the application to a group setting, presents a summary of the research field on social cohesion in groups (e.g. esprit de corps/team spirit). Subsequently, SAT is (theoretically) applied to the particular case of settings including a group (of which the individual is a member). The approach assumes that under such circumstances, the group might influence the features of the setting, such as its moral norms. An assumption that would rely on the individual perceiving the group (for more details on "perception" in SAT see e.g. Wikström [2014]), which presumably should be more salient when the social cohesion (such as an esprit de corps) of the group is high. From the SAT perspective it seems reasonable to assume that, in such specific situations, the moral norms of the setting would be influenced by both the moral norms of the group and the general moral norms of the setting (e.g. laws). From this perspective, a group's moral norms could either increase or reduce the criminogenic features of the setting, making an act of crime more or less likely. As the aforementioned imply, this paper suggests that SAT is suitable for examining group factors in the causation of crime. Furthermore, that these theoretical suppositions should be tested empirically. It also indicates that such applications of SAT would allow for including both particularistic and universalistic factors (e.g. moral norms) in the explanation of why individuals commit acts of deviance.

I authored this paper on my own. The theoretical propositions were explicated as part of the presentation "Corruption in organizations: Deviant or not?" (complementarily to an "Ethical Decision-Making" approach; see Schwartz [2016] for more details on this topic) at the interdisciplinary conference: "Corporate Crime and Illegal Party Financing in a Comparative Perspective" (19.-21. September 2019, Heidelberg).

1.2.3 Third paper: "Ethical decisions between the conflicting priorities of legality and group loyalty: Scrutinizing the 'code of silence' among volunteer firefighters with a vignette-based factorial survey"

The third paper that is part of this dissertation centers on the empirical results of a vignette-based factorial survey on situational (group) factors that influence volunteer firefighters' adherence to a "code of silence" pertaining a fellow team member's wrongdoing. It appears probable that during their assignments, volunteers may sometimes encounter situations in which they have to decide between acting in accordance with legal standards or group standards, such as loyalty, for the protection of the group. In this study, we examine the code of silence, an issue that is usually considered in literature on deviant behavior in business and administrative institutions such as enterprises or the police (e.g. Donner, Maskaly, and Thompson 2018; Ivković and Sauerman 2013). Opposite actions to complying with a "code of silence" are usually referred to as "whistleblowing" (e.g. in Dungan, Waytz, and Young 2015). We show that the "code of silence" can also be prevalent in volunteer groups.

The paper first presents previous theoretical and empirical research on the relevant topics, beginning with ethical decision-making (e.g. Westmarland 2005) and proceeding to issues such as the conflicting priorities of group loyalty and general legal standards (e.g. Dungan, Young, and Waytz 2019), groups in threatening situations (e.g. Lanzetta et al. 1954) as well as the (excessive) use of force (e.g. Harlow 1985), which constitute the basis for the four hypotheses that are proposed. Based on the previous literature we hypothesize that threats to the group increase group loyalty in general, resulting in negative outcomes such as a higher probability for deviant behavior in the form of maintaining silence on fellow group members' deviant actions (code of silence). We further propose that the more forceful the team behavior, the higher the likelihood of adherence to general legal standards (not sticking to the code of silence). We then forward the assumption that the excessive use of force of a fellow team

member increases adherence to general legal standards (not complying with the code of silence). Furthermore, because group influences are often studied in conjunction with work effectiveness (e.g. in Johnson and Johnson 1991), we also include the hypothesis that higher work effectiveness, in the form of faster team planning, leads to a higher likelihood of acting in accordance with general legal standards (not abiding by a code of silence). This is followed by a description of the study's design and methodology. The study is a factorial survey experiment (Auspurg and Hinz 2015) — conducted with volunteer firefighters in Germany. As an instrument, this offers many benefits that are particularly relevant for the issues examined in the current study, such as the closeness to real life situations (see Hainmueller, Hangartner, and Yamamoto 2015) and a lower social desirability bias during the inquiry of deviant behavior and other sensitive issues (see Auspurg et al. 2015). The successful usage of factorial surveys in previous studies on deviant behavior further shows its suitability for scrutinizing such topics (for example by Dickel and Graeff 2018; Graeff et al. 2014).

In order to test the hypotheses, we designed a situation in which volunteers had to choose an action in accordance with legal or group standards i.e. they were asked to report how likely they would be to externally report the deviant action of a fellow group member (dependent variable). We constructed a realistic situation in which the overall team is threatened to an experimentally varied extent (independent variable). We also include the following varied independent variables: Forceful team behavior, (excessive) use of force of a fellow team member and how much faster the team planning is.

Subsequently in the paper, the results of the empirical analysis are presented and discussed. The results (significantly) support the first three hypotheses whereas they do not confirm the fourth hypothesis (the effect is in the proposed direction but not significant). Therefore, our study offers support for the proposition that the higher the threat to the group, the higher the likelihood of deviant behavior for the protection of the group (such as adhering to a code of silence). Moreover, the higher the forcefulness of the team or the more excessive the use of force of a fellow team member, the more probable it becomes that the individual will act in accordance with general legal standards (such as whistleblowing when other members behave deviantly to general rules and norms). However, our results do not support an influence of team effectiveness on the likelihood of individual's deviant behavior.

This paper is the first to address such issues in regard to volunteers. A major surplus is that it shows how situations of threat to the (volunteer) group may increase a code of silence. In

relation to connected topics, such as ethical decision-making and group loyalty, this offers important insights into the drivers of deviant behavior (e.g. not reporting wrongdoings) in groups that may be exposed to threats during the completion of their (work) assignments.

This is a co-authored paper together with Professor Dr. Peter Graeff. We constructed the vignettes used in the survey together and I conducted the survey in its implementation and the entry of the data. In the first version of the paper, I wrote the introduction as well as the second chapter. The third and fourth chapters were written jointly and the conclusion was written by Professor Dr. Peter Graeff. Both of us contributed towards the redrafts that led to the final version. This paper is submitted to the European Sociological Review.

1.3 Relationship of the papers

After the introduction to the overall topic of this dissertation and the three papers in the preceding chapters, this section will delineate how they are related. There are two types of connection: The first relates to common topics whereas the second pertains to the metatheoretical suppositions. In regard to the former, three research themes are central to the overall dissertation: (1) group factors in processes affecting acts of deviance, (2) situations of conflict between group and general norms and (3) groups' social cohesion and its consequences. Pertaining the latter (the metatheoretical premises), three commonalities of the papers exist in that all of them are (4) interested in causes and processes, (5) actor-based perspectives and (6) middle range theories. Collectively, these commonalities clearly show the shared general thread in this dissertation which also reflects the research aim (see chapter 1.1 The dissertation's general topic and its relevance).

1.4 How the dissertation fills previous gaps in research

As regards the overall dissertation, research gaps are addressed with the goal of contributing towards filling these. They are closely related to the common topics spanning the papers (stated above in chapter 1.3 Relationship of the papers). More specifically, in regard to social cohesion, the dissertation contributes towards alleviating the lack of consistent concepts (as explicated in section 1.1 The dissertation's general topic and its relevance). Furthermore, it goes beyond the focus of most previous theoretical conceptualizations and empirical studies on the positive consequences of social group cohesion (e.g. esprit de corps), focusing primarily

on its negative effects and as a factor leading towards situations of ambivalence (for more details on this issue see chapter 1.1 The dissertation's general topic and its relevance). Such an approach contributes towards a more balanced field of research pertaining groups' social cohesion by including such possibilities of impacts on processes leading to acts of deviance. Moreover, there is generally a very limited amount of research on the group factors leading towards crime. However, there are some exceptions, such as a study by Sansfaçon and Amiot (2014) showing that illegal behavior is more likely to be condoned when it is considered as normative within the group. Also, empirical results by Haarr (1997) substantiate that, for the case of police departments, officers with high commitment show more deviance for the benefit of the organization through reinterpreting or breaking rules. The second example is not directly focused on the (work) group but rather oriented more towards the organization (e.g. Pinto, Leana, and Pil [2008] show that deviance can be carried out to benefit the organization). Nevertheless, it illustrates two important issues: Firstly, that there appear to be social factors which influence actors' likelihood of deviant behavior (in organizations). Secondly, that there is not a sufficient, precise focus on the (work) group factors that may be relevant components of such processes. The three papers in this dissertation aim to be a contribution towards filling this gap and taking first steps towards extensively examining possible group influences on wrongdoing. Such factors include threats (e.g. at the work place), social cohesion (as addressed above) and group norms. This research also adds to related fields, for instance research on the "code of silence". In line with the statement by Dungan, Waytz, and Young (2014: 99) that "corrupt behaviour is not necessarily solely selfish; it can be other-serving towards the members of one's own group" this dissertation contributes towards explanations of individuals' wrongdoings for the benefit of the overall group.

References

- Agarwal, Sonal, and Theophilus Adjirackor. 2016. "Impact of Teamwork on Organizational Productivity in Some Selected Basic Schools in the Accra Metropolitan Assembly." *European Journal of Business, Economics and Accountancy* 4(6):40–52.
- Anderson, Elijah. 1999. *Code of the Street: Decency, Violence, and the Moral Life of the Inner City.* New York: Norton.
- Auspurg, Katrin, and Thomas Hinz. 2015. *Factorial Survey Experiments*. Vol. 175: Sage Publications.
- Auspurg, Katrin, Thomas Hinz, Stefan Liebig, and Carsten Sauer. 2015. "The Factorial Survey as a Method for Measuring Sensitive Issues." Pp. 137–49 in *Improving Survey Methods: Lessons from Recent Research*, edited by U. Engel, B. Jann, P. Lynn, A. Scherpenzeel, and P. Sturgis. New York: Routledge.
- Barth, Markus, Torsten Masson, Immo Fritsche, and Carolin-T. Ziemer. 2018. "Closing Ranks: Ingroup Norm Conformity as a Subtle Response to Threatening Climate Change." *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations* 21(3):497–512. doi:10.1177/1368430217733119.
- Blau, Peter M., Danching Ruan, and Monika Ardelt. 1991. "Interpersonal Choice and Networks in China." *Social Forces* 69(4):1037–62.
- Boxx, W. R., Randall Y. Odom, and Mark G. Dunn. 1991. "Organizational Values and Value Congruency and their Impact on Satisfaction, Commitment, and Cohesion: An Empirical Examination within the Public Sector." *Public Personnel Management* 20(1):195–205. doi:10.1177/009102609102000207.
- Boyt, Thomas, Robert Lusch, and Michael Mejza. 2005. "Theoretical Models of the Antecedents and Consequences of Organizational, Workgroup, and Professional Esprit De Corps." *European Management Journal* 23(6):682–701. doi:10.1016/j.emj.2005.10.013.
- Dickel, Petra, and Peter Graeff. 2016. "Applying Factorial Surveys for Analyzing Complex, Morally Challenging and Sensitive Topics in Entrepreneurship Research: The Case of Entrepreneurial Ethics." Pp. 199–217 In Complexity in Entrepreneurship, Innovation and Technology Research: Applications of Emergent and Neglected Methods, edited by E. S. C. Berger and A. Kuckertz. Cham: Springer.
- Dickel, Petra, and Peter Graeff. 2018. "Entrepreneurs' propensity for corruption: A vignette-based factorial survey." *Journal of Business Research* 89:77–86. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.03.036.

- Donner, Christopher M., Jon Maskaly, and Kanani N. Thompson. 2018. "Self-control and the police code of silence: Examining the unwillingness to report fellow officers' misbehavior among a multi-agency sample of police recruits." *Journal of Criminal Justice* 56:11–19. doi:10.1016/j.jcrimjus.2017.10.002.
- Dungan, James, Adam Waytz, and Liane Young. 2014. "Corruption in the Context of Moral Trade-offs." *Journal of Interdisciplinary Economics* 26(1-2):97–118. doi:10.1177/0260107914540832.
- Dungan, James, Adam Waytz, and Liane Young. 2015. "The Psychology of Whistleblowing." *Current Opinion in Psychology* 6:129–33. doi:10.1016/j.copsyc.2015.07.005.
- Dungan, James A., Liane Young, and Adam Waytz. 2019. "The power of moral concerns in predicting whistleblowing decisions." *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology* 85:1–12. doi:10.1016/j.jesp.2019.103848.
- Falomir-Pichastor, Juan M., Fabrice Gabarrot, and Gabriel Mugny. 2009. "Conformity and Identity Threat: The Role of Group Identification." *Swiss Journal of Psychology* 68(2):79–87. doi:10.1024/1421-0185.68.2.79.
- Faris, Ellsworth. 1932. "The Primary Group: Essence and Accident." *American Journal of Sociology* 38(1):41–50.
- Graeff, Peter. 2012. "Ambiguitätstoleranz und Anfälligkeit für Korruption in der Organisationsberatung." Pp. 1–8 in *Positionen. Beiträge zur Beratung in der Arbeitswelt,* edited by R. Haubl, H. Möller, and C. Schiersmann. Calden: Kassel University Press.
- Graeff, Peter. 2016. "Social Mechanisms of Corruption: Analytical Sociology and Its Applicability to Corruption Research." *Analyse & Kritik* 38(1):53–71. doi:10.1515/auk-2016-0104.
- Graeff, P., S. Sattler, G. Mehlkop, and C. Sauer. 2014. "Incentives and inhibitors of abusing academic positions: Analysing university students' decisions about bribing academic staff." *European Sociological Review* 30(2):230–41. doi:10.1093/esr/jct036.
- Grant, Adam M. 2007. "Relational Job Design and the Motivation to Make a Prosocial Difference." *Academy of Management Review* 32(2):393–417. doi:10.5465/amr.2007.24351328.
- Haarr, Robin N. 1997. ""They're Making a Bad Name for the Department": Exploring the Link between Organizational Commitment and Police Occupational Deviance in a Police Patrol Bureau." *Policing: An International Journal of Police Strategies & Management* 20(4):786–812. doi:10.1108/13639519710194812.

- Hagedorn, John M., Bart Kmiecik, Dick Simpson, Thomas J. Gradel, Melissa M. Zmuda, and David Sterrett. 2013. *Crime, Corruption and Cover-Ups in the Chicago Police Department* (Anti-Corruption Report No. 7). Chicago, IL: University of Illinoi-Chicago Department of Political Science.
- Hainmueller, Jens, Dominik Hangartner, and Teppei Yamamoto. 2015. "Validating Vignette and Conjoint Survey Experiments Against Real-World Behavior." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 112(8):2395–400. doi:10.1073/pnas.1416587112.
- Harlow, Caroline W. 1985. Reporting crimes to the police (Report): US Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics.
- Hashemi, Jalil, and Delkash Sadeqi. 2016. "The Relationship Between Job Satisfaction and Organizational Climate: A Case Study of Government Departments in Divandarreh." World Scientific News 45(2):373–83.
- Hedström, Peter. 2008. "Studying Mechanisms To Strengthen Causal Inferences In Quantitative Research." Pp. 319–35 in *The Oxford Handbook of Political Methodology*, edited by J. M. Box-Steffensmeier, H. E. Brady, and D. Collier. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Hedström, Peter, and Peter Bearman. 2009. "What is Analytical Sociology All About? An Introductory Essay." Pp. 3–24 in *The Oxford Handbook of Analytical Sociology*, edited by P. Hedström and P. S. Bearman. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Hedström, Peter, and Petri K. Ylikoski. 2014. "Analytical Sociology and Rational Choice Theory." Pp. 53–70 in *Analytical Sociology: Actions and Networks*, edited by G. Manzo. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons.
- Hogg, Michael A., Dominic Abrams, and Marilynn B. Brewer. 2017. "Social Identity: The Role of Self in Group Processes and Intergroup Relations." *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations* 20(5):570–81. doi:10.1177/1368430217690909.
- Ivković, Sanja K., and Adri Sauerman. 2013. "Curtailing the Code of Silence Among the South African Police." *Policing: An International Journal of Police Strategies & Management* 36(1):175–98. doi:10.1108/13639511311302533.
- Ivković, Sanja K., Maki Haberfeld, and Robert Peacock. 2016. "Decoding the Code of Silence." Criminal Justice Policy Review 29(2):172–89. doi:10.1177/0887403416680853.
- Jetten, Jolanda, Russell Spears, and Antony S. R. Manstead. 1996. "Intergroup Norms and Intergroup Discrimination: Distinctive Self-Categorization and Social Identity Effects." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 71(6):1222–33.

- Johnson, David W., and Frank P. Johnson. 1991. *Joining Together: Group Theory and Group Skills*. 4th ed. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Lanzetta, John T., Don Haefner, Peter Langham, and Howard Axelrod. 1954. "Some effects of situational threat on group behavior." *The Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology* 49(3):445–53.
- Lee, Dong-Jin, Grace B. Yu, M. J. Sirgy, Anusorn Singhapakdi, and Lorenzo Lucianetti. 2018. "The Effects of Explicit and Implicit Ethics Institutionalization on Employee Life Satisfaction and Happiness: The Mediating Effects of Employee Experiences in Work Life and Moderating Effects of Work–Family Life Conflict." *Journal of Business Ethics* 147(4):855–74. doi:10.1007/s10551-015-2984-7.
- Lüscher, Kurt. 2013. "Das Ambivalente Erkunden." Familiendynamik 38(3):238-47.
- Mackie, Diane M. 1986. "Social Identification Effects in Group Polarization." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 50(4):720–28.
- Manzoor, Sheikh R., Hafiz Ullah, Murad Hussain, and Zulqarnain M. Ahmad. 2011. "Effect of Teamwork on Employee Performance." *International Journal of Learning & Development* 1(1):110–26. doi:10.5296/ijld.v1i1.1110.
- Marques, José M., Dominic Abrams, Dario Paez, and Cristina Martinez-Taboada. 1998. "The Role of Categorization and In-Group Norms in Judgments of Groups and Their Members."

 Journal of Personality and Social Psychology 75(4):976–88.
- Martins, Juliana G., Haroldo N. de Paiva, Paula C. P. Paiva, Raquel C. Ferreira, Isabela A. Pordeus, Patricia M. Zarzar, and Ichiro Kawachi. 2017. "New Evidence About the "Dark Side" of Social Cohesion in Promoting Binge Drinking Among Adolescents." *PloS One* 12(6). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0178652.
- Masson, Torsten, Philipp Jugert, and Immo Fritsche. 2016. "Collective Self-Fulfilling Prophecies: Group Identification Biases Perceptions of Environmental Group Norms Among High Identifiers." *Social Influence* 11(3):185–98. doi:10.1080/15534510.2016.1216890.
- Maurer, Andrea. 2010. "Die Analytische Soziologie Peter Hedströms und die Tradition der rationalen Sozialtheorie." Pp. 165–92 in *Die Analytische Soziologie in der Diskussion*, edited by T. Kron and T. Grund. Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.
- McGuire, Luke, Adam Rutland, and Drew Nesdale. 2015. "Peer Group Norms and Accountability Moderate the Effect of School Norms on Children's Intergroup Attitudes." *Child Development* 86(4):1290–97. doi:10.1111/cdev.12388.

- McGuire, Luke, Antony S. R. Manstead, and Adam Rutland. 2017. "Group Norms, Intergroup Resource Allocation, and Social Reasoning Among Children and Adolescents." *Developmental Psychology* 53(12):2333–39. doi:10.1037/dev0000392.
- Merton, Robert K. 1940. "Bureaucratic Structure and Personality." Social Forces 18(4):560–68.
- Merton, Robert K., and Elinor Barber. 1963. "Sociological Ambivalence." Pp. 91–120 in *Sociological Theory, Values, and Sociocultural Change: Essays in Honor of Pitirim A. Sorokin,* edited by E. A. Tiryakian. New York: Free Press.
- Misch, Antonia, Harriet Over, and Malinda Carpenter. 2016. "I Won't Tell: Young Children Show Loyalty to Their Group by Keeping Group Secrets." *Journal of experimental child psychology* 142:96–106. doi:10.1016/j.jecp.2015.09.016.
- Parsons, Talcott. 1951. The Social System. England: Routledge & Kegan Paul.
- Pfarrer, Michael D., Katherine A. Decelles, Ken G. Smith, and M. S. Taylor. 2008. "After the Fall: Reintegrating the Corrupt Organization." *Academy of Management Review* 33(3):730–49. doi:10.5465/amr.2008.32465757.
- Pinto, Jonathan, Carrie R. Leana, and Frits K. Pil. 2008. "Corrupt Organizations or Organizations of Corrupt Individuals?: Two Types of Organization-Level Corruption." *Academy of Management Review* 33(3):685–709. doi:10.5465/amr.2008.32465726.
- Pohlmann, Markus, Gerhard Dannecker, Dieter Dölling, and Dieter Hermann, editors. 2019. Bribery, Fraud, Manipulation: How to Explain And to Avoid Organizational Wrongdoing? Wiesbaden: Springer.
- Portes, Alejandro, and Erik Vickstrom. 2011. "Diversity, Social Capital, and Cohesion." *Annual Review of Sociology* 37(1):461–79. doi:10.1146/annurev-soc-081309-150022.
- Ratzmann, Martin, Robin Pesch, Ricarda Bouncken, and Carla M. Climent. 2018. "The Price of Team Spirit for Sensemaking Through Task Discourse in Innovation Teams." *Group Decision and Negotiation* 27(3):321–41. doi:10.1007/s10726-018-9561-2.
- Sansfaçon, Sophie, and Catherine E. Amiot. 2014. "The Impact of Group Norms and Behavioral Congruence on the Internalization of an Illegal Downloading Behavior." *Group Dynamics: Theory, Research, and Practice* 18(2):174–88. doi:10.1037/a0035797.
- Schwartz, Mark S. 2016. "Ethical Decision-Making Theory: An Integrated Approach." *Journal of Business Ethics* 139(4):755–76. doi:10.1007/s10551-015-2886-8.
- Staffieri, Anne L. 2016. "Psychological and Behavioral Dimensions of Team Trust and Adherence to Collaborative Team Norms Within PLCs.", Brigham Young University.

- Stein, Mark, and Jonathan Pinto. 2011. "The Dark Side of Groups: A "Gang at Work" in Enron." Group & Organization Management 36(6):692–721. doi:10.1177/1059601111423533.
- Stollberg, Janine, Immo Fritsche, and Eva Jonas. 2017. "The Groupy Shift: Conformity to Liberal In-Group Norms as a Group-Based Response to Threatened Personal Control." *Social Cognition* 35(4):374–94.
- Taggar, Simon, and Robert Ellis. 2007. "The Role of Leaders in Shaping Formal Team Norms."

 The Leadership Quarterly 18(2):105–20. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2007.01.002.
- Tittle, Charles R., and Raymond Paternoster. 2000. *Social Deviance and Crime: An Organizational and Theoretical Approach*. Los Angeles, CA: Roxbury.
- Urien, Begoña, Amparo Osca, and Lourdes García-Salmones. 2017. "Role Ambiguity, Group Cohesion and Job Satisfaction: A Demands-Resources Model (JD-R) Study from Mexico and Spain." *Revista Latinoamericana de Psicología* 49(2):137–45. doi:10.1016/j.rlp.2015.09.014.
- Waytz, Adam, James Dungan, and Liane Young. 2013. "The Whistleblower's Dilemma and the Fairness–Loyalty Tradeoff." *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology* 49(6):1027–33. doi:10.1016/j.jesp.2013.07.002.
- Weisburd, David, Rosann Greenspan, Edwin E. Hamilton, Hubert Williams, and Kellie A. Bryant. 2000. *Police Attitudes Toward Abuse of Authority: Findings From a National Study*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice Office of Justice Programs National Institute of Justice.
- Westmarland, Louise. 2005. "Police ethics and integrity: Breaking the blue code of silence." *Policing and Society* 15(2):145–65. doi:10.1080/10439460500071721.
- Wikström, Per-Olof H. 2004. "Crime as Alternative: Towards a Cross-Level Situational Action Theory of Crime Causation." Pp. 1–37 in *Beyond Empiricism: Institutions and Intentions in the Study of Crime*, edited by J. McCord. New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Publishers.
- Wikström, Per-Olof H. 2006. "Individuals, Settings, and Acts of Crime: Situational Mechanisms and the Explanation of Crime." Pp. 61–107 in *The Explanation of Crime: Context, Mechanisms and Development,* edited by P.-O. H. Wikström and R. J. Sampson. Cambridge, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Wikström, Per-Olof H. 2014. "Why Crime Happens: A Situational Action Theory." Pp. 74–94 in *Analytical Sociology: Actions and Networks*, edited by G. Manzo. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons.

- Wikström, Per-Olof H. 2019. "Situational Action Theory: A General, Dynamic and Mechanism-Based Theory of Crime and its Causes." Pp. 259–81 in *Handbook on Crime and Deviance*, edited by M. D. Krohn, N. Hendrix, G. P. Hall, and A. J. Lizotte. Cham: Springer.
- Wikström, Per-Olof H., and Kyle Treiber. 2007. "The Role of Self-Control in Crime Causation: Beyond Gottfredson and Hirschi's General Theory of Crime." *European Journal of Criminology* 4(2):237–64. doi:10.1177/1477370807074858.
- Wikström, Per-Olof H., and Kyle Treiber. 2016. "Situational Theory: The Importance of Interactions and Action Mechanisms in the Explanation of Crime." Pp. 415–44 in *Wiley handbooks in criminology and criminal justice, The Handbook of Criminological Theory,* edited by A. R. Piquero. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons.
- Wikström, Per-Olof H., and Kyle Treiber. 2017. "Beyond Risk Factors: An Analytical Approach to Crime Prevention." Pp. 73–87 in *Advances in Prevention Science, Preventing Crime and Violence*, edited by B. Teasdale and M. S. Bradley. Cham: Springer.
- Wikström, Per-Olof H., Richard P. Mann, and Beth Hardie. 2018. "Young People's Differential Vulnerability to Criminogenic Exposure: Bridging the Gap Between People- and Place-Oriented Approaches in the Study of Crime Causation." *European Journal of Criminology* 15(1):10–31. doi:10.1177/1477370817732477.
- Wikström, Per-Olof H., Vania Ceccato, Beth Hardie, and Kyle Treiber. 2010. "Activity Fields and the Dynamics of Crime: Advancing Knowledge About the Role of the Environment in Crime Causation." *Journal of Quantitative Criminology* 26(1):55–87. doi:10.1007/s10940-009-9083-9.
- Wilder, David A., and Peter N. Shapiro. 1984. "Role of Out-Group Cues in Determining Social Identity." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 47(2):342–48.

First paper:

Esprit de corps as a source of deviant behavior in organizations. Applying an old concept with a new livery

Proof of original publication:

Graeff, Peter, and Julia Kleinewiese. 2020. "Esprit de Corps as a Source of Deviant Behavior in Organizations: Applying an Old Concept with a New Livery." Pp. 219–45, in *Bribery, Fraud, Cheating: How to Explain And to Avoid Organizational Wrongdoing?*, edited by M. Pohlmann, G. Dannecker, and Elizangela Valarini. Wiesbaden: Springer. doi:10.1007/978-3-658-29062-7.

Second paper:

Situational Action Theory and the particular case of settings including a group

Original publication:

Kleinewiese, Julia. 2020. "Situational Action Theory and the Particular Case of Settings Including a Group." *European Journal of Criminiology*:1–17. Copyright © [2020] (Julia Kleinewiese). doi:10.1177/1477370820953088.

Abstract

Situational Action Theory (SAT) postulates that the personal crime propensity and the setting's criminogenic features are direct causes of crime. This perspective also places a central focus on the moral factors involved. The moral norms of settings have not yet been exhaustively examined in regard to the facets that may influence them. This theoretical article applies SAT to the particular case of settings including a group. Building upon previous literature on social cohesion in groups (such as team spirit/esprit de corps), the group present in the setting presumably is more likely to be perceived by the individual if such group cohesiveness is high. When perceived, the moral norms of the group and the deterrence should have an influence through becoming part of the setting in the causation of crime, according to SAT. This application suggests that SAT is a fruitful approach for explaining the impacts of groups on crime.

Keywords:

Situational Action Theory, deviance, groups, esprit de corps, particularism

1 Introduction

The Situational Action Theory (SAT) is an actor-based theory of crime. As a general theory it is applicable to all kinds of crime. Since its notion refers to individual actions, the question arises: How can Situational Action Theory (SAT) explain the corporately committed crimes of group members? The importance of this question can be illustrated by Kammigan et al. (2019), whose application of SAT shows that being a member of a group which condones drugs can increase the likelihood of overreporting drug use (in a survey). Such results in regard to the reporting of deviance (e.g. drug use), indicate that behavior which is deviant according to general norms may be stated, even exaggerated, by members of groups when it corresponds with the group's norms. In Situational Action Theory (SAT) "The moral norms of a setting will vary in the degree to which they correspond with the rules of conduct stated in law [...]" (Wikström et al., 2012: 16). This draws attention to the issue that in some settings, the moral norms may be more than exclusively general norms. On the basis of this supposition, for settings including a group, it might be presumed that group norms play a role. Such group norms could support the general rules and norms (e.g. laws) or be crime conducive.

In SAT, the setting is the individual's immediate environment, including other persons. According to Wikström (e.g. 2004) settings can vary in their criminogeneity i.e. in how conducive they are to a specific crime. It is postulated that the moral norms are a central aspect of the criminogenic features of the setting (e.g. Wikström and Treiber, 2007). Most empirical studies utilizing SAT assume settings with moral rules that are in accordance with the general rules and norms (e.g. laws) of a society (Schulz, 2018) and, therefore, crime prohibitive. There are some exceptions such as those mentioned in Wikström et al. (2012) as well as Cochran (2016). Furthermore, a number of researchers have addressed this aspect and made a call for research on possible crime-conducive moral norms of the setting (see e.g.

Jordanoska, 2018; Pauwels, 2018). Despite this, the field of research is not yet exhaustive, especially in regard to theoretical discussions on particular applications. Such a specific application could be, for instance, considering settings with specific social features within the framework of SAT. Hardie's (2017, 2019) research, for instance, shows that the (perceived) physical and psychological presence of parents can reduce the likelihood of adolescent misconduct. The social bonds between adolescents and parents can increase the salience of the latter's (typically law-conform) moral norms in a setting and, therefore, their impact on the adolescents' behavior (Hardie, 2017, 2019). When there is high social cohesion (e.g. in the form of an esprit de corps) in a group, strong social bonds also exist between its members. Therefore, I similarly assume that the perception of one's group in a setting can influence the (perceived) moral norms and deterrence.

In this context, the question arises, how the moral norms of the setting might be constituted (how criminogenic they are) in settings in which several moral rules are present and perceived by the individual. It appears likely, that there are both (perceived) general norms as well as particularistic ones in at least some situations. How would the moral rules of the setting be in such an instance? It seems likely that they would be constituted of both universalistic as well as particularistic norms. In order to elucidate this, it is expedient to apply SAT to a particular setting in which both forms of norms are present and likely to be perceived by the individual. As a first step towards this, a theoretical application will be presented and discussed, using the example of a group directly present in the setting (and of which the individual is a member). In accordance with SAT, the necessary condition for this theoretical approach to be applicable is that the individual must perceive the group in the setting. A theoretical assumption which shall be forwarded is that the perception of the group in the setting, as well as the strength of the norms' influence, should be higher for

groups with strong social (group) cohesion — such as a team spirit/esprit de corps. The current application utilizes previous literature on social cohesion in groups, focusing on esprit de corps (e.g. Boyt et al., 2005), as an application in which individuals necessarily perceive themselves as group members and feel the influence of the group setting's conditions. From the perspective of this theoretical approach, esprit de corps is expedient — for settings in which groups are present — for looking at the moral rules of the setting. This application of SAT to settings with a group also follows the call for research by Pauwels (2018: 143): "Future studies should pay attention to other setting characteristics that have relevance, [...] future studies might also want to look at [...] aspects such as the presence of deviant peer groups".

The ensuing sections proceed as follows: First, an overview of Situational Action Theory will be given. Second, the literature on social cohesion in groups (with a special focus on esprit de corps) as well as empirical results on its positive and negative effects are presented. Third, the SAT is applied to the specific case of settings including a group (of which the individual is a member). Finally, the implications and theoretical utility of such an application of SAT are reflected on in the conclusion section.

2 Situational Action Theory

SAT is considered to be a general theory of crime because it intends to explain all acts of crime (Wikström, 2006). According to SAT, "Crime may be defined as an act of breaking a moral rule defined in criminal law" (Wikström, 2006: 63). A focus lies on acts that break laws (Wikström, 2006). However, SAT assumes that laws are merely one specific type of moral rule. The explanatory process for both *why* people break laws and *why* they break (other) moral rules is the same. It follows that SAT is also a theory of moral action (Wikström, 2010;

Wikström et al., 2012). The specific moral rules that are relevant for a specific action may differ. It is not the type of action but that the action breaks the law which makes it a crime (Wikström, 2010). According to SAT "[...] all crimes, in all places, and at all times have in common, the breach of a moral rule (defined in law)" (Wikström, 2010: 216).

This section explicates SAT's central concepts and processes. The theory places a strong emphasis on *moral rules*, stating that these explicitly prescribe the "right" and the "wrong" course of action in a given situation (Wikström et al., 2012). It assumes that moral rules differ from each other in how generally applicable they are across settings (Wikström, 2006). In addition to its focus on the role of moral in the explanation of how crimes happen, *controls* are relevant in SAT. The suggestion is that when an individual perceives crime as a possible action, he/she can habitually commit a crime or deliberate on whether or not to commit a crime. The latter occurs when the guiding moral rules in a specific situation are in conflict with one another (Wikström et al., 2012; Wikström and Treiber, 2017).

According to Wikström (e.g. 2006), the *setting* is a subsection of the environment and always refers to what a person is immediately exposed to, as his/her senses have access to it; "*setting* is the part of the environment to which the individual is directly exposed and reacts to (e.g., other persons, objects, and events)" (Wikström, 2004: 18). When individuals take part in settings, they necessarily perceive specific alternatives for acting whilst exposed to a particular motivator (temptation or provocation). From this viewpoint, the choice that an individual then makes is based on these perceived alternatives (Wikström et al., 2018). It follows that a *situation* is seen as consisting of the perception of action alternatives as well as the choice-process. In accordance with this assumption, a situation is generally defined as the result of an interaction between features of the setting and of the person. This interac-

tion between the setting and the person is what presumably leads to the individual perceiving (and choosing) particular action alternatives (e.g. Wikström, 2004). Therefore, it is of interest to the theory, what combinations of which features of the person and the setting cause particular actions (such as acts of crime) (Wikström et al., 2012; Wikström and Treiber, 2016).

As previously addressed, SAT incorporates the elements "person" and "setting" into its conception of situations. These categories lead to two constructs: *crime propensity* (of the person) and *criminogeneity* (of the setting). Both of these vary (Wikström, 2014), depending on the exact composition (e.g. the perceived motivation, interactions between personal and environmental features) that leads to the situational action.

In SAT, the personal element *crime propensity* is the predisposition to perceive and then choose to commit an act of crime (as opposed to non-criminal action alternatives) (e.g. Wikström, 2004; Wikström et al., 2012; Wikström and Svensson, 2010). A tendency which appears to be dependent upon how strongly a person's *morality* and his/her abilities in respect to *self-control* facilitate breaking the law (Wikström et al., 2012). Personal morals are defined as "value—based rules of conduct about what it is right or wrong to do in a particular circumstance" (Wikström and Treiber, 2017: 78). According to Wikström et al. (2012) the *morality* of a person is dependent on their personal rules of how to act appropriately, furthermore, on their emotional intensity of how important following the corresponding moral rule is. The theory posits that while personal morality already plays a main part in the perception-process, self-control becomes relevant in the choice-process and *only* when there is a conflict between the person's morality and the moral norms of the setting (Wikström, 2014; Wikström and Treiber, 2007). Moreover, self-control is defined as the person's (when affected by temptations or provocations) ability to make the choice to act according to

his/her personal morality (Wikström, 2004). There are two facets of a person's self-control:

(1) their general ability (executive capability) to exercise self-control and (2) the exercising of self-control in a specific situation (Wikström and Treiber, 2007). The former implies more stability whereas the latter could vary due to situational differences.

The criminogeneity/criminogenic features (of a setting) refers to the degree to which the setting supports acts of crime through facilitating the breaking of law. Settings are termed criminogenic if they have a tendency to encourage acts of crime and some settings presumably have a higher criminogeneity than others (Wikström, 2004; Wikström et al., 2012). This is constituted by the setting's moral norms and their enforcement, the second of which affects deterrence (Wikström et al., 2012). Furthermore, in the presence of specific motivations the moral norms of a setting guide how people should conduct themselves (Wikström and Treiber, 2017). Moral contexts differ between settings i.e. the moral norms of the setting and their enforcement as well as sanctioning would differ (e.g. Wikström, 2004, 2006, 2014; Wikström and Treiber, 2007). Furthermore, settings vary in regard to the extent that their moral norms correspond with the law (Wikström et al., 2012). Deterrence is defined as "[...] the avoidance of breaking a moral rule (committing an act of crime) because of the fear of consequences" (Wikström, 2008: 347). This is based on the perceived likelihood of interventions (and concomitant possible penalties such as formal punishments and social sanctions) for acts that break the law or the specific moral norms of the setting (Wikström, 2004, 2008, 2014), such as perceived surveillance (through e.g. the police, private security personnel or security cameras) and possible punishments. Deterrence only plays an active role in an act of crime when the individual perceives the act as possible and deliberates, whether or not to act in such a way (Wikström, 2006). Deterrence may prevent something that would otherwise have taken place (Wikström, 2008).

The situational model, with its interactions, is fundamental to SAT. A person's crime propensity and the setting's degree of criminogeneity are central. It follows that personal morality and self-control interact with the moral norms and deterrence of the setting, leading to an act (of crime); "When dealing with action the outcome always depends on their interaction" (Wikström, 2004: 9). In SAT, the "Perception of action alternatives and the process of choice are the suggested key situational mechanisms that link an individual and his environment (settings) to his actions (inactions)" (Wikström, 2006: 92). This situational perception-choice process shows mechanisms which may lead to an action (crime/no crime) of specific types of individuals in specific types of settings. The situational model hypothesizes that "[...] for any particular motivation (temptation or provocation), the resulting action (A) is an outcome of a perception-choice process (\rightarrow) that results from the interaction (\times) between relevant personal propensities (P) and exposure to relevant setting inducements (E)" (Wikström and Treiber, 2016: 430). The perception-choice model presents a structure of how (1) motivation starts the action-process, (2) the moral filter presents alternatives for actions and (3) controls have an effect on the choice-process (if there is a conflict between the personal morality and the moral norms of the setting) (Wikström, 2014; Wikström and Treiber, 2016).

SAT also addresses the role of systematic (social) features and people's life stories. It asserts that these factors are not direct causes of crime but may be the causes behind those named in the theory. In this sense, they "[...] may be regarded as the 'causes of the causes'" (Wikström, 2006: 62).

SAT is embedded in the empirical context of the (PADS+) Peterborough Adolescent and Young Adult Development Study (see e.g. Wikström et al., 2012). SAT has been tested in numerous empirical studies on specific elements of its models (e.g. Hirtenlehner and Hardie,

2016) and some on the overall perception-choice model (e.g. Sattler et al., 2018) – for an overview of the studies published between 2006 and 2015, see Pauwels et al. (2018). It has also recently been applied to "white-collar crime" (see Craig, 2019; Jordanoska, 2018). A majority of applications have focused on school or university students and, concomitantly, on settings in which these tend to spend time. In such an application of SAT, Cochran (2016) studies elements of academic settings that may be conducive to cheating and the results indicate that individuals who feel pressured towards deviance by their friends as well as those who are members of more than the average number of student groups/organizations are more likely to be involved in academic dishonesty. Similarly, I am suggesting an application of SAT to settings including a group of which the individual is a member, assuming that the group may have an influence on the setting's criminogeneity. This requires first explicating the background of previous research regarding groups that is of relevance for viewing such group influences through the lens of the setting (in SAT). In this context, it seems reasonable to primarily consider social cohesion (such as a team spirit/esprit de corps) and its influence on individual group members (e.g. pertaining the group's moral norms).

3 Esprit de corps

The previous literature on *esprit de corps* has two evident opportunities for refinement:

Some inconsistency pertaining its definition as well as (in some instances) the absence of a demarcation between esprit de corps and closely related concepts, such as social cohesion and team spirit (as addressed by Graeff and Kleinewiese [2020]). This section provides an overview of the relevant previous literature, showing that in spite of the aforementioned limitations, social cohesion in groups (e.g. esprit de corps) appears to be a very expedient concept for approaching group processes and effects. One reason for this assumption is that

such concepts have been theoretically discussed and empirically examined from diverse viewpoints (by different research fields). Nevertheless, throughout the literature on social cohesion, cohesiveness is considered to be based on the members' attraction and identification towards the group (Boyt et al., 2005). Esprit de corps has been described as a subtype of cohesion (containing a high degree of team spirit) (Koys and DeCotiis, 1991). This perspective exemplifies possible limits within current literature pertaining the differentiation between esprit de corps and team spirit. A substantial amount of research applies both concepts interchangeably: Some cases present them as directly equivalent (e.g. Pahi et al., 2016; Ratzmann et al., 2018) whereas others alternate between them while referring to the same concept (e.g. Jaworski and Kohli, 1993; Shoham et al., 2005). As previously indicated in this section, this "interchangeability" can be seen as a lack in regard to the clear delineation (and, therefore, differentiation) of esprit de corps and team spirit. However, it is also possible to take a more positive stance and evaluate this as an indication that the concepts may be very similar to each other, as forms of social cohesion in groups.

The term esprit de corps is historically traceable back to military roots. Rogg (2004) maintains that in the eighteenth century it was ascribed to nobles (especially those engaged in military work) as representation of an exclusive upper class. In late nineteenth century German military, it apparently meant having a special nobleness of heart (Elbe, 2004). The Brockhaus (1911) states that it is a "corps spirit, in corporations, especially the military, the most active participation of each individual towards the common good of all, [...] under the setting aside/disregard of all egoistic-personal considerations". From the perspective of more recent military literature, social cohesion is commonly divided into subtypes, such as horizontal bonding (direct colleagues) and vertical bonding (superior to subordinates) (Stewart, 1988), or amongst leaders and amongst members of a squad (Mael, 1989).

Fayol (1949) uses esprit de corps to refer to employees' coherence and accord. Esprit de corps has been the focus of both organizational and military literature (see overview by Boyt et al. [2005]). It is assumed that esprit de corps is oriented towards group goals. Jones and James (1979) describe workgroup esprit de corps as a group level form of social cohesion. Furthermore, it looks probable that the esprit de corps of a group increases when group members face hostile surroundings (Boyt et al., 2005). Esprit de corps is generally ascribed a particularistic character: It is exclusively oriented towards the group's members (Blau et al., 1991; Parsons, 1951).

Research on concepts of group cohesion has predominantly placed an emphasis on its positive consequences. Cohesion within groups is commonly associated with positive (work) environments, such as organizational excellence and high adherence to group norms (e.g. Boxx et al., 1991; Grant, 2007; Johnson and Johnson, 1991). Identification with the particular group (e.g. Tajfel and Turner, 1986) and how attractive a member finds the group (e.g. Back, 1951) are believed to be of relevance. Esprit de corps is also prevalently examined in light of its positive effects (in organizational studies e.g. Halpin and Croft, 1962; Jones and James, 1979; Koys and DeCotiis, 1991). Specifically, it is suggested that (a strong) esprit de corps may increase work performance (e.g. Flood and Klausner, 2018; Turner, 1933).

While, overall, most literature on esprit de corps is concerned primarily with its positive outcomes, currently, the focus on possible negative effects of esprit de corps is gaining more attention. As supported by findings of Urien et al. (2017), the related concept group cohesion appears to have a positive effect on job satisfaction, however, the results also indicate that group cohesion seems to increase the negative impact that role ambiguity has on job satisfaction. Furthermore, a strong esprit de corps may reduce people's disposition to question or criticize other ingroup members' standpoints (Ratzmann et al., 2018). Moreover,

there is some support for the possibility that high social cohesion may be connected to dissociation from people who are not members of the group (Waytz and Epley, 2012) and, in consequence, the likelihood of conflicts between groups might be heightened (Meier and Hinsz, 2004). These studies indicate that strong social cohesion – for instance a high esprit de corps within a workgroup – in groups could have negative effects. In front of the backdrop of these findings, it seems that social cohesion in groups can deliver a contribution in a theoretical approach towards the effects of groups in regard to crime.

Literature has also examined esprit de corps' relationship to norms and rules. Take for instance an assumption derived by Dungan et al. (2014) which proposes that a person's morality distinguishes between moral norms at the level of the group and generally applicable moral norms. In regard to the current research interest of applying SAT to settings including a group, an example which indicates such a relationship can be that a group's particularistic norms and rules may come into conflict with universalistic norms and rules; the conflicting norms/rules may simultaneously have an effect on the individual (cf. Graeff, 2012; Pfarrer et al., 2008). In such cases, he/she would presumably have the inclination to adhere to both of the opposing norms (Lüscher, 2013; Merton and Barber, 1963). These competing effects may lead to a trade-off between salient norms (Graeff and Kleinewiese, 2020). A strengthening of esprit de corps could have negative effects because it may intensify the conflicts between group and general norms (cf. Waytz et al., 2013). Similar to such findings regarding the connection of esprit de corps and group norms, it is feasible that esprit de corps influences the individual's perception of a group (and its moral norms) of which he/she is a member. Therefore, a stronger esprit de corps could be accompanied by an increase in the influence of the group's particularistic moral norms. Considering these propositions, SAT seems expedient for being applied to the specific case of settings including groups.

4 Groups as part of the setting in SAT

According to Warr (1996), research in the twentieth century has led to the group nature of deviant behavior being well established because offenders tend to commit criminal acts in groups. Furthermore: "[...] when a situation primes a sense of in-group cohesion or outgroup antipathy, this also may lower thresholds for the collective crime under consideration" (McGloin and Rowan, 2015: 491). From the SAT perspective, groups that are part of the setting could be considered in their influence on the likelihood of an act of crime being committed in such specific situations.

In SAT, the individual is connected with the environment by what he/she actually perceives of it (Wikström, 2004, 2006; Wikström et al., 2018). Therefore, within this theoretical framework, it appears reasonable that the esprit de corps of a group which is present in the setting (and of which the individual is a member) would increase the perception of the group and its moral norms (as well as deterrence). From this perspective, the current section proposes that – in SAT for the case of settings including groups – the moral norms of the group may contribute to the moral norms of the setting. Following this line of argumentation, the setting including a group would have moral norms that could be influenced by both the group norms and the general norms and rules (e.g. laws). Additionally, deterrence of the setting might be constituted of both the group deterrence and the general deterrence.

Therefore, I suggest that in this specific type of setting, the group (norms and deterrence) could influence the moral context (of the setting).

It seems feasible that strong group morality may influence individual members pertaining acts of crime, as similarly indicated by Dungan et al. (2014: 109) for the case of corruption: "[...] group-based morals may also encourage individuals to condone corrupt behaviour". Moreover, Pinto et al. (2008) reason that the relationship between the individual (level) and the group (level) appears to be important for explaining corruption. In close relation to these suggestions, I propose that examining possible impacts of groups in a setting where they are present is relevant for explaining particular acts of deviance in specific situations. The previous overviews of the SAT and the concept esprit de corps have laid a foundation for this step. This theoretical perspective aims at an application of SAT to the specific case of crime in group settings, with a focus on the possible connection of esprit de corps and group norms with the moral norms of the setting. As groups may be conceived of as a part of the immediate environment (the setting), the assumption is forwarded that groups can have an influence in the causation of crime, from the perspective of SAT.

Coleman (1990) posits that norms do not occur when the socially determined right to act in a given manner lies with the person, instead, he asserts that norms require this right to be held by other people. It seems reasonable to suggest that norms enforce the external accountability (by others) of an individual regarding the adherence to their principles (cf. Brennan et al., 2013). Presumably, norms can be highly relevant for explaining acts of crime because, considering crime to be a subtype of acts of deviance, general norms must exist for the individual to deviate from them. For instances of corruption, Graeff (2005) states that corrupt acts can be controlled by norms of corruption, which explicitly define how the individual should proceed. SAT describes moral norms as mutually held rules regarding action (Wikström and Treiber, 2017). For particular settings, they specify what the right or wrong course of action is, furthermore, "They are prescriptions held by others for what are acceptable reactions and responses to specific motivators" (Wikström, 2019: 270). Therefore, from this perspective the "moral" components of the person and the setting are defined by

SAT's emphasis on rules regarding what right and wrong action is. While social norms can (depending on the viewpoint) be attitudes that some literature links to behavior (see Bicchieri et al., 2018), the moral elements of SAT clearly focus on the action.

For the specific case of settings including a group, it seems reasonable to consider the central propositions of SAT, as presented in chapter 2 Situational Action Theory. These posit the setting (its criminogeneity) and the person (his/her crime propensity) as the direct causes of crime, assuming that the criminogeneity of a setting would consist of moral norms and deterrence, while the crime propensity of a person would consist of personal morality and self-control (see e.g. Wikström, 2014). In the suggested perception-choice process¹, a (perceived) motivation – temptation or provocation – initiates the process. The moral aspects then interact in the "moral filter" and the control aspects might interact in the "controls" (Wikström, 2014; Wikström et al., 2012; Wikström and Treiber, 2017). To illustrate these propositions for the case of settings including a group, of which the individual is a member, the following hypothetical scenario is described and explicated: A moral norm of a group of adolescents with a strong esprit de corps could be that stealing is a good way of getting money. Whenever the group is present in the setting and perceived by the individual (a member of the group), this moral group norm as well as the general rules and norms would constitute the moral norms of the setting. Under such circumstances, when the individual is confronted with a motivation these moral norms of the setting would interact with the personal morality of the individual in the moral filter and influence, whether or not the individual would perceive an act of crime as an option. If not, this would lead to a "no crime" action. If they do perceive crime as an option, this would either habitually lead to an act of

¹ For details on the perception-choice process in SAT see e.g. Wikström (2014).

crime or to a deliberation in which the controls (self-control and deterrence, the latter constituted of the general deterrence and the group deterrence) would come into play and either lead to a "crime" or "no crime" action, such as stealing from a stranger in a public space. The influence of the group norms would be in opposition to the general norms (in the form of laws) and could be in accordance or in conflict with and individual's personal morality.

This article places an emphasis on the moral elements of SAT because the theory proposes them to be of primary importance (see e.g. Wikström, 2006). Nevertheless, it assumes that the control elements may also play a role in the causation of crime: "Controls influence the process of choice when there is conflicting rule-guidance (regarding perceived action alternatives)" (Wikström et al., 2012: 23). In the currently proposed application of SAT, this premise would also apply for deterrence of settings that contain generally applicable norms as well as group norms. This might include presence and/or surveillance as well as possible sanctions both in regard to the general norms and rules (through e.g. policemen) and the group norms (through members of the group). Likewise, Wikström (2015) states that deterrence may also enforce criminogenic norms (in addition to non-criminogenic norms). Therefore, it might be suggested that the aforementioned would be conceivable both for settings in which the group norms conform to the general norms and for settings in which they differ. Consider, for instance, the following scenario which exemplifies the aforementioned propositions: A policeman sees that a fellow group member has excessively used violence (beyond what would be justifiable according to general rules). His personal morality prescribes that it is right to report colleagues' misconduct during work assignments. His workgroup has a strong esprit de corps and moral norms which prescribe not reporting the excessive use of

violence of a fellow group member to a supervisor (conflicting rule-guidance). In deliberation, he may be affected by his self-control and the group deterrence (e.g. are other members present?) as well as the general deterrence (e.g. external special investigators that are present) as "deterrence of the setting".

A theoretical surplus could be seen in the current approach's connection to previous literature on the universalism-particularism differentiation (see e.g. Blau, 1962; Blau et al., 1991; De Blasio et al., 2019). It seems reasonable to suggest that this perspective is relevant for the presumed importance of moral norms in regard to actions as well as the (as shown in chapter 3 Esprit de corps) suggested influences of social group cohesion (e.g. in the form of an esprit de corps) on individual members. These can be considered in the framework of the differentiation between universalism and particularism in which the former is assumed to refer to common judgements shared by all individuals of a given society, independent of their personal conditions, and the latter is posited to indicate those judgements based on individuals' personal circumstances (Blau, 1962). This perspective also foregrounds a presumed relevance of such judgements (both universalistic and particularistic) to actions. Blau (1962: 166) generally posits that "Universalistic standards produce social differentiation" whereas "Particularistic standards typically produce segregating boundaries in the social structure". This position expresses the particularism of (in)group standards which can be explicated, for instance, by standards as prejudices: "A prejudice shared by all, even the minority in question, reflects a universal standard; only a bias confined to the ingroup reflects a particularistic one" (Blau, 1962: 165). Furthermore, one might even suggest that the differentiation between the ingroup and the outgroup is central to the definition of particularism: "[...] particularism refers to the fact that people's orientations toward the ingroup differ from those toward the outgroup [...]" (Blau, 1962: 164). It follows that from this theoretical

perspective, the universalism-particularism differentiation is that features (e.g. esprit de corps, norms) referring to the group and its members are considered as particularistic whereas features that refer to all individuals of the general society (e.g. general rules and norms) would be categorized as universalistic. In the current framework of applying SAT to the specific circumstance of settings including a group, this could imply that both universalistic moral norms and deterrence as well as the group's particularistic moral norms and deterrence may contribute towards the influences of the setting on action. It is proposed that the group norms may prescribe what "right" or "wrong" action is in a given situation, according to the group. This should not be taken to indicate that the group's norms are postulated to be contrary to general norms and rules (e.g. laws), however, they might be. Based on the literature pertaining particularism and universalism (Blau, 1962), it looks probable that the general norms and rules could not be particularistic because they are potentially aimed at all members of the entire society. The (general) moral rules are assumed to include formalized rules (e.g. laws) but also informal social norms (e.g. not smoking near children; not pushing or skipping ahead in a queue) (cf. Ehrlich and Ziegert, 2017). In the sense of these suggestions, it seems probable that when the general norms and rules are highly effective, the moral norms of the setting should closely correspond with them. It is probable that at least some influence on the setting's moral norms would be present in the form of laws. The moral norms of the setting (when groups are present and perceived) might be influenced by both the general norms and the group norms, showing that under such circumstances groups may play a role in the causation of crime. In regard to the presumed influence of groups on acts (of crime) conducted by individual members, SAT is a theory of crime causation that has been shown to be suitable for a (theoretical) explanation.

5 Conclusions and future research

As the theoretical application pertaining group crime shows, the actor-based approach of SAT can be utilized through including group influences in the framework of one of its two direct causes of crime: the setting. Furthermore, as part of the setting, groups could influence the perception-choice process which accounts for the possible steps that result in an action (either a crime or not a crime). The setting including a group presents a specific case of settings in which the moral rules may be affected by both universalistic and particularistic norms. Therefore, it is a very specific case that, nevertheless, may illustrate a more general reason why settings can vary in their criminogeneity. Consider, for example, such propositions in regard to corruption: For some situations which can lead to an act of corruption there may be a criminogenic setting, influenced by particularistic moral norms which would be highly salient and, hence, increase criminogenic features of the setting (even though the universalistic norms and rules [e.g. laws] would also be present). Such particularistic moral norms might be those of a group with strong social cohesion, even an esprit de corps. As put by an expert on corruption: "[...] It is a sense of community, a feeling of togetherness, a confirmed fellowship, the pursuit of a common goal, [...] so that there is a communal spirit, because these actions allow a better financial endowment for everyone" (Campbell and Göritz, 2014: 304).

To illustrate the expedience of the current endeavor, consider the following two scenario variations, focusing on the moral components: An individual happens upon a situation in which it would be possible to perceive robbing a purse that is not being closely watched by its owner (temptation). In the first variation of the scenario, the setting's (perceived) moral norms would comply with the general laws, dictating that stealing is illegal ("wrong"). If the individual's personal moral norms were to dictate that stealing is a "wrong" action,

then he/she would not be likely to act as a thief (no crime) in this situation by taking the purse. However, consider a second variation of this scenario in which the individual is the member of a gang (group) with moral norms which dictate that stealing is a "right" action. Keeping all other features of the scenario the same as before, if he/she were to perceive the gang (group) because of other gang members present in the setting, this should increase the (perceived) criminogeneity of the setting and so, the likelihood that the individual would choose to rob the purse (crime).

The importance of considering factors such as groups regarding the criminogeneity of settings becomes clear when reflecting upon the question of why individuals with a high personal morality in settings with high general moral norms might still commit acts of crime or, reversely, why individuals with a low personal morality in settings with low salience of the general moral norms sometimes do not commit an act of crime (when confronted with temptations or provocations). This is in line with the empirical findings of Wikström et al. (2012: 408): "[...] even if crime prone young people committed most of their offences in criminogenic settings [...], they did not offend during most of the time they spent in such settings. There are apparently also other important factors that affect settings' criminogeneity and the extent to which they trigger acts of crime. For example, we have not yet measured social-psychological factors, such as those that relate to social relationships and group dynamics".

My theoretical approach towards explaining the group factor in crime in such specific settings by applying Situational Action Theory also aims at stimulating the theoretical debate on the integration of different aspects of the setting for the constitution of its moral norms (and deterrence). This may go beyond the current focus on groups and could be examined in regard to other elements that are highly relevant in specific situations. It is also mutually

complementary to theoretical and empirical research on SAT such as Hardie's (2017) discussion of differing moral rules in settings as a result of present individuals (e.g. parents and peers) and possible influences on the likelihood of an act of crime.

This approach further aims at presenting the theoretical elements and interrelations in such a form that easily allows linking them with an empirical research design. The specificity of the presented perspective implies that it would be useful for application and testing in empirical endeavors. In such studies, it would be possible to test the typical relevant situations, but also explore the limits of the applicability, of an element such as group features as part of the setting. Similarly, Kroneberg and Schulz (2018) state that it would be expedient to extensively measure the moral norms and rules of settings and suggest, that varying them experimentally would be the best option. They argue that knowing the places where time is spent and even the number of peers present, of crime prone individuals, might not deliver a sufficient amount of information on the norms and rules of the settings. Furthermore, they posit that these moral rules strongly depend on the moral norms held by the present peers. They call for future research on this topic. Conducting a study that takes the moral norms of the present group into account as part of the setting could be the next expedient step. Testing the theoretical assumptions in this article for members of groups with a strong esprit de corps (such as the military or the police) would be a particularly interesting. This may possibly lead to results predominantly supporting the current theoretical propositions or may implicate that some changes are necessary (or perhaps even some of the postulated aspects irrelevant). This would not only broaden our understanding of how groups have an effect in the causation of criminal acts but also encourage the debate on other setting-elements and the situations in which they may be perceived. For instance, another step that might be

taken in examining the role of particularistic moral norms within settings in SAT could be investigating organizational cultures e.g. in regard to explaining police deviance or sexual harassment at the workplace (see Jordanoska [2018] for a specific call for research).

This application of SAT to groups is also theoretically fruitful in a more general sense: It shows how universalistic and particularistic features might be viewed as an important factor within the moral norms – in the framework of SAT – and, therefore, how they may simultaneously influence individuals' likelihood of committing an act of crime. This perspective draws on previous literature, assuming the postulated differentiation by Blau (1962) and Blau et al. (1991), foregrounding the issue that a particular action may be influenced through several features that are all universalistic or all particularistic. In the current approach this perspective is illustrated by the particularistic nature of both the esprit de corps and the group's norms. Furthermore, the application of SAT to group-settings also proposes theoretical reasons supporting that both universalism and particularism may affect an actor, for instance when both are present in a setting. This latter argument pertains to the issue that both (universalistic) general moral norms in the setting and (particularistic) moral group norms may influence the overall moral norms of such a specific setting. This furthers a point posited by Blau (1962: 163): "An orientation is typically influenced by a number of factors, some of which may act as universalistic and others as particularistic standards". Such combined effects on action could be conceivable when the universalistic and particularistic features differ as well as when they are in accordance with each other in regard to the action they indicate. In this sense, the current approach and the particularism-universalism differentiation indicate a specific theoretical application of the perception-choice process in which differing processes may lead to crime/no crime outcomes (see e.g. Wikström, 2014). Furthermore, the approach taken here adds a further angle to literature which suggests that

particularism and group solidarity are closely linked (e.g. Parsons et al., 1953) by showing how the related concept of esprit de corps may be closely connected with particularism. Through the perspective of an SAT-application, this indicates that a group's particularistic features, such as its moral norms and its esprit de corps, may be brought into connection in theory on deviance. Blau (1962: 166) posits that "Particularism is, indeed, both an expression and a condition of the solidarity of the subgroup [...] but for this very reason it creates some segregating barriers in the larger collectivity". Following this proposition, the current approach of applying SAT to settings including groups theoretically advances that their social cohesion (e.g. an esprit de corps) and other particularistic features may sometimes have negative effects in regard to the general society and its norms and rules.

This article shows that SAT is able to theoretically explain the (corporately) committed crimes of group members when it is applied to the particular case of settings including a group, even taking social cohesion into account. This is an approach that could be expedient for application in empirical research which is interested in group effects in the causation of crime.

References

Back KW (1951) Influence Through Social Communication. *The Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology* 46(1): 9–23.

Bicchieri C, Muldoon R and Sontuoso A (2018) Social Norms. In: Zalta EN (ed.) *The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy (Winter 2018 Edition):*

- Blau PM (1962) Operationalizing a Conceptual Scheme: The Universalism-Particularism Pattern Variable. *American Sociological Review* 27(2): 159–169.
- Blau PM, Ruan D and Ardelt M (1991) Interpersonal Choice and Networks in China. *Social Forces* 69(4): 1037–1062.
- Boxx WR, Odom RY and Dunn MG (1991) Organizational Values and Value Congruency and their Impact on Satisfaction, Commitment, and Cohesion: An Empirical Examination within the Public Sector. *Public Personnel Management* 20(1): 195–205.
- Boyt T, Lusch R and Mejza M (2005) Theoretical Models of the Antecedents and Consequences of Organizational, Workgroup, and Professional Esprit De Corps. *European Management Journal* 23(6): 682–701.
- Brennan G, Eriksson L, Goodin RE, et al. (2013) *Explaining Norms*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Campbell J-L and Göritz AS (2014) Culture Corrupts! A Qualitative Study of Organizational Culture in Corrupt Organizations. *Journal of Business Ethics* 120(3): 291–311.
- Cochran JK (2016) Moral Propensity, Setting, and Choice: A Partial Test of Situational Action
 Theory. *Deviant Behavior* 37(7): 811–823.
- Coleman JS (1990) Foundations of Social Theory. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Craig JM (2019) Extending Situational Action Theory to White-Collar Crime. *Deviant Behavior* 40(2): 171–186.
- De Blasio G, Scalise D and Sestito P (2019) Universalism Vs. Particularism: A Round Trip from Sociology to Economics. *Review of Social Economy*: 1–24.

- Dungan J, Waytz A and Young L (2014) Corruption in the Context of Moral Trade-offs. *Journal of Interdisciplinary Economics* 26(1-2): 97–118.
- Ehrlich E and Ziegert KA (2017) *Fundamental Principles of the Sociology of Law*. New York: Routledge.
- Elbe M (2004) Der Offizier: Ethos, Habitus, Berufsverständnis. In: Gareis SB and Klein P (ed.) *Handbuch Militär und Sozialwissenschaft:* Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften, pp. 418–431.
- Esprit de Corps (1911). In: Brockhaus' Kleines Konversations-Lexikon Bd. 1: Leipzig.
- Fayol H (1949) *General and Industrial Management. Translated by C. Storrs.* London: Sir Isaac Pitman & Sons.
- Flood F and Klausner M (2018) High-Performance Work Teams and Organizations. In: A.

 Farazmand (ed.) *Global Encyclopedia of Public Administration, Public Policy, and Governance:* Cham: Springer.
- Graeff P (2005) Why Should One Trust in Corruption? The Linkage Between Corruption,

 Norms and Social Capital. In: Lambsdorff JG, Taube M and Schramm M (eds) *The New Institutional Economics of Corruption:* New York, NY: Routledge, pp. 40–58.
- Graeff P (2012) Ambiguitätstoleranz und Anfälligkeit für Korruption in der Organisationsberatung. In: Haubl R, Möller H and Schiersmann C (eds) *Positionen. Beiträge zur Beratung in der Arbeitswelt:* Calden: Kassel University Press, Pp. 1–8.
- Graeff P and Kleinewiese J (2020) Esprit de Corps as a Source of Deviant Behavior in Organizations: Applying an Old Concept with a New Livery. In: Pohlmann M, Dannecker G and

- Elizangela Valarini (eds) *Bribery, Fraud, Cheating: How to Explain And to Avoid Organizational Wrongdoing?* Wiesbaden: Springer, pp. 219–245.
- Grant AM (2007) Relational Job Design and the Motivation to Make a Prosocial Difference.

 Academy of Management Review 32(2): 393–417.
- Halpin AW and Croft DB (1962) *The Organizational Climate of Schools*. Chicago: Midwest Administration Center, University of Chicago.
- Hardie B (2017) Why Monitoring Doesn't Always Matter: The Situational Role of Parental Monitoring in Adolescent Crime. Doctoral Thesis; University of Cambridge. DOI: https://doi.org/10.17863/CAM.15484.
- Hardie B (2019) Why Monitoring Doesn't Always Matter: The Interaction of Personal Propensity with Physical and Psychological Parental Presence in a Situational Explanation of Adolescent Offending. *Deviant Behavior*. DOI: 10.1080/01639625.2019.1673924.
- Hirtenlehner H and Hardie B (2016) On the Conditional Relevance of Controls: An Application of Situational Action Theory to Shoplifting. *Deviant Behavior* 37(3): 315–331.
- Jaworski BJ and Kohli AK (1993) Market Orientation: Antecedents and Consequences. *Journal of Marketing* 57(3): 53–70.
- Johnson DW and Johnson FP (1991) *Joining Together: Group Theory and Group Skills*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Jones AP and James LR (1979) Psychological Climate: Dimensions and Relationships of Individual and Aggregated Work Environment Perceptions. *Organizational Behavior and Human Performance* 23(2): 201–250.

- Jordanoska A (2018) The Social Ecology of White-Collar Crime: Applying Situational Action

 Theory to White-Collar Offending. *Deviant Behavior* 39(11): 1427–1449.
- Kammigan I, Enzmann D and Pauwels LJR (2019) Over- and Underreporting of Drug Use: A

 Cross-National Inquiry of Social Desirability Through the Lens of Situational Action Theory. European Journal on Criminal Policy and Research 25(3): 273–296.
- Koys DJ and DeCotiis TA (1991) Inductive Measures of Psychological Climate. *Human Relations* 44(3): 265–285.
- Kroneberg C and Schulz S (2018) Revisiting the Role of Self-Control in Situational Action Theory. *European Journal of Criminology* 15(1): 56–76.

Lüscher K (2013) Das Ambivalente Erkunden. Familiendynamik 38(3): 238–247.

Mael FA (1989) Measuring Leadership, Motivation, and Cohesion Among U.S. Army soldiers.

McGloin JM and Rowan ZR (2015) A Threshold Model of Collective Crime. *Criminology* 53(3): 484–512.

- Meier BP and Hinsz VB (2004) A Comparison of Human Aggression Committed by Groups and Individuals: An Interindividual–Intergroup Discontinuity. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology* 40(4): 551–559.
- Merton RK and Barber E (1963) Sociological Ambivalence. In: Tiryakian EA (ed.) *Sociological Theory, Values, and Sociocultural Change: Essays in Honor of Pitirim A. Sorokin:* New York: Free Press, pp. 91–120.

Pahi MH, Shah SMM, Ahmed U, et al. (2016) Investigating the Issue of Nurse Job Satisfaction:

Role of Esprit De Corps, Task Significance, Self-Efficacy and Resilience: A Case Study. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences* 6(4): 339–355.

Parsons T (1951) The Social System. England: Routledge & Kegan Paul.

- Parsons T, Bales RF and Shils EA (1953) Working Papers in the Theory of Action. Glencoe, III:

 The Free Press.
- Pauwels LJR (2018) Analysing the Perception—Choice Process in Situational Action Theory: A Randomized Scenario Study. *European Journal of Criminology* 15(1): 130–147.
- Pauwels LJR, Svensson R and Hirtenlehner H (2018) Testing Situational Action Theory: A Narrative Review of Studies Published Between 2006 and 2015. *European Journal of Criminology* 15(1): 32–55.
- Pfarrer MD, Decelles KA, Smith KG, et al. (2008) After the Fall: Reintegrating the Corrupt Organization. *Academy of Management Review* 33(3): 730–749.
- Pinto J, Leana CR and Pil FK (2008) Corrupt Organizations or Organizations of Corrupt Individuals? Two Types of Organization-Level Corruption. *Academy of Management Review* 33(3): 685–709.
- Ratzmann M, Pesch R, Bouncken R, et al. (2018) The Price of Team Spirit for Sensemaking

 Through Task Discourse in Innovation Teams. *Group Decision and Negotiation* 27(3): 321–341.
- Rogg M (2004) Der Soldatenberuf in Historischer Perspektive. In: Gareis SB and Klein P (eds) *Handbuch Militär und Sozialwissenschaft:* Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften, pp. 396–408.

- Sattler S, Graeff P, Sauer C, et al. (2018) Der illegale Verkauf verschreibungspflichtiger Medikamente zur kognitiven Leistungssteigerung: Eine vignetten-basierte Studie rationaler und normativer Erklärungsgründe. *Monatsschrift für Kriminologie und Strafrechtsreform* 101(3-4): 352–379.
- Schulz S (2018) Selbstkontrolle und Kriminelle Neigung in der Modernen Kriminologischen
 Theoriediskussion. In: Hermann D and Pöge A (eds) *Kriminalsoziologie: Handbuch für Wissenschaft und Praxis*. Baden-Baden: Nomos, pp. 91–106.
- Shoham A, Rose GM and Kropp F (2005) Market Orientation and Performance: A Meta-Analysis. *Marketing Intelligence & Planning* 23(5): 435–454.

Stewart NK (1988) South Atlantic Conflict of 1982: A Case Study in Military Cohesion.

- Tajfel H and Turner JC (1986) The Social Identity Theory of Intergroup Behavior. In: Worchel S and Austin WG (eds) *Psychology of Intergroup Relations:* Chicago: Nelson-Hall, pp. 7–24.
- Turner CE (1933) Test Room Studies in Employee Effectiveness. *American Journal of Public Health and the Nation's Health* 23(6): 577–584.
- Urien B, Osca A and García-Salmones L (2017) Role Ambiguity, Group Cohesion and Job Satisfaction: A Demands-Resources Model (JD-R) Study from Mexico and Spain. *Revista Latinoamericana de Psicología* 49(2): 137–145.
- Warr M (1996) Organization and Instigation in Delinquent Groups. Criminology 34(1): 11–37.
- Waytz A, Dungan J and Young L (2013) The Whistleblower's Dilemma and the Fairness–Loyalty Tradeoff. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology* 49(6): 1027–1033.

- Waytz A and Epley N (2012) Social Connection Enables Dehumanization. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology* 48(1): 70–76.
- Wikström P-OH (2004) Crime as Alternative: Towards a Cross-Level Situational Action Theory of Crime Causation. In: McCord J (ed.) *Beyond Empiricism: Institutions and Intentions in the Study of Crime*. New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Publishers, pp. 1–37.
- Wikström P-OH (2006) Individuals, Settings, and Acts of Crime: Situational Mechanisms and the Explanation of Crime. In: Wikström P-OH and Sampson RJ (eds) *The Explanation of Crime: Context, Mechanisms and Development*. Cambridge, NY: Cambridge University Press, pp. 61–107.
- Wikström P-OH (2008) Deterrence and Deterrence Experiences: Preventing Crime Through the Threat of Punishment. In: Shoham S, Beck O, and Kett M (ed.) *International Hand-book of Penology and Criminal Justice*. Boca Raton: CRC Press, pp. 345–378.
- Wikström P-OH (2010) Explaining Crime as Moral Actions. In: Hitlin S and Vaisey S (ed.)

 Handbook of the Sociology of Morality. New York: Springer Verlag, pp. 211–239.
- Wikström P-OH (2014) Why Crime Happens: A Situational Action Theory. In: Manzo G (ed.)

 Analytical Sociology: Actions and Networks. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons, pp. 74–94.
- Wikström P-OH (2015) Situational Action Theory. *Monatsschrift für Kriminologie und Straf*rechtsreform 98(3): 177–186.
- Wikström P-OH (2019) Situational Action Theory: A General, Dynamic and Mechanism-Based

 Theory of Crime and its Causes. In: Krohn MD, Hendrix N, Hall GP and Lizotte AJ (eds)

 Handbook on Crime and Deviance: Cham: Springer, pp. 259–281.

- Wikström P-OH, Mann RP and Hardie B (2018) Young People's Differential Vulnerability to

 Criminogenic Exposure: Bridging the Gap Between People- and Place-Oriented Approaches in the Study of Crime Causation. *European Journal of Criminology* 15(1): 10–31.
- Wikström P-OH, Oberwittler D, Treiber K and Hardie B (2012) *Breaking rules: The Social and Situational Dynamics of Young People's Urban Crime*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Wikström P-OH and Svensson R (2010) When Does Self-Control Matter? The Interaction Between Morality and Self-Control in Crime Causation. *European Journal of Criminology* 7(5): 395–410.
- Wikström P-OH and Treiber K (2007) The Role of Self-Control in Crime Causation: Beyond Gottfredson and Hirschi's General Theory of Crime. *European Journal of Criminology* 4(2): 237–264.
- Wikström P-OH and Treiber K (2016) Situational Theory: The Importance of Interactions and Action Mechanisms in the Explanation of Crime. In: Piquero AR (ed.) *The Handbook of Criminological Theory:* Chichester: John Wiley & Sons, pp. 415–444.
- Wikström P-OH and Treiber K (2017) Beyond Risk Factors: An Analytical Approach to Crime Prevention. In: Teasdale B and Bradley MS (ed.) *Preventing Crime and Violence:* Cham: Springer, pp. 73–87.

Third paper:

Ethical decisions between the conflicting priorities of legality and group loyalty: Scrutinizing the "code of silence" among volunteer firefighters with a vignette-based factorial survey

Proof of original publication:

Kleinewiese, Julia, and Peter Graeff. 2020. "Ethical Decisions Between the Conflicting Priorities of Legality and Group Loyalty: Scrutinizing the "Code of Silence" Among Volunteer Firefighters with a Vignette-Based Factorial Survey." *Deviant Behavior* 4(6):1–14. doi:10.1080/01639625.2020.1738640.

Erklärung zu der Ko-Autorenschaft und den DFG-Richtlinien

Die folgenden beiden Fachartikel wurden in Ko-Autorenschaft mit Herrn Prof. Dr. Peter Graeff verfasst: "Esprit de corps as a source of deviant behavior in organizations – applying an old concept with a new livery" und "Ethical decisions between the conflicting priorities of legality and group loyalty: Scrutinizing the ,code of silence' among volunteer firefighters with a vignette-based factorial survey". Hiermit erklären wir, dass wir beide maßgeblich an der Verfassung der beiden Fachartikel beteiligt waren. Des Weiteren bestätigen wir hiermit, dass die DFG-Richtlinien zur "Sicherung guter wissenschaftlicher Praxis" eingehalten wurden.

Eidesstattliche Erklärung

Erklärung zum selbständigen Verfassen der Arbeit

Ich erkläre hiermit, dass ich meine Doktorarbeit "Mechanisms of social cohesion" selbststän-

dig und ohne fremde Hilfe angefertigt habe und dass ich als Koautor maßgeblich zu den wei-

teren Fachartikeln beigetragen habe. Alle von anderen Autoren wörtlich übernommenen Stel-

len, wie auch die sich an die Gedanken anderer Autoren eng anlehnenden Ausführungen der

aufgeführten Beiträge wurden besonders gekennzeichnet und die Quellen nach den mir an-

gegebenen Richtlinien zitiert.

Kiel, 25.11.2019

Ort, Datum

Unterschrift